# NO. 90553-3

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

### DARLENE MARIE GREEN,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 43632-9-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 10-1-00438-4

### PETITION FOR REVIEW



RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

JEREMY A. MORRIS **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** 

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Lenell Rae Nussbaum Market Place One, Ste 330 Seattle, Wa 98121-2161

Email: lenell@nussbaumdefense.com

#### I. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

The petitioner is the State of Washington. The petition is filed by Kitsap County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney JEREMY A. MORRIS.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals published decision in State v. Green, No. 43632-9-II (June 24, 2014), in which the court held that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding proposed testimony from a defense expert. No motion for reconsideration was filed. A copy of the Court's decision is attached as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether several of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met, and this Court should thus accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals holding that: (1) the Frye<sup>2</sup> was inapplicable to the defense expert's proposed extension of battered woman's syndrome because that syndrome has previously been found to satisfy Frye; and (2) the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the proposed defense testimony, where:

1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decision of this Court in State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 869 P.2d 43 (1994)(where this Court found that a new or novel extension of the battered woman's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Green, \_\_Wn.App. \_\_, \_\_P.3d \_\_, 2014 WL 2866555 (June 24, 2014). <sup>2</sup> Frye v. United States, 293 F.Supp 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

syndrome did not satisfy Frye); and

- 2. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decision of this Court in cases such as *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.2d 267 (2008) and *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988), which hold that a trial court has the discretion to exclude testimony that goes to the veracity or credibility of a witness or that includes an actual diagnosis of a witness with a particular disorder; and
- 3. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court because the Court of Appeals majority opinion curtails a trial court's broad discretion regarding the admission of evidence and represents a departure from the traditional abuse of discretion standard?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Darlene Green was charged by amended information filed in Kitsap County Superior Court with one count of Murder in the Second Degree and one charge of Manslaughter in the First Degree. CP 6-9. A jury found the Defendant not guilty on the charge of Murder in the Second Degree but found her guilty of the crime of Manslaughter in the First Degree. CP 46. The trial court then imposed an exceptional sentence below the standard range. CP 47-48. In a 2-1 opinion, the Court of

Appeals reversed and ordered a new trial.

### B. FACTS

The Defendant's conviction in the present case was based upon evidence that she shot and killed her husband of 57 years, William Green. Specifically, on June 18, 2004, the Defendant called her son, Brad Green, and told him his father was dead and that she had shot him. RP 255, 260-61. Brad Green explained that during this conversation the Defendant wasn't shaken or crying and didn't appear to be upset, and that "She was almost, I don't know, a sad way of putting it is, proud." RP 261-62.

Brad Green immediately called 911. RP 262. A number of Kitsap County Sheriff's Deputies responded to the Defendant's residence and found the Defendant covered in blood and standing on a deck by the front porch. RP 273, 275-77, 294-96, Exhibit 34-35. Deputies entered the residence and found the victim, William Green, dead on the floor with what appeared to be a bullet wound between his eyes. RP 276-77, 310, 315, 323, Exhibits 14-19. A firearm was lying on the floor. RP 277, 310.

The Defendant was advised of her Miranda warnings and she stated, "I don't know what the big deal is. I just did what he told me to do." RP 280-81, 299-300. During a later interview with a detective, the Defendant explained that she had been watching television in the living room with her husband. RP 445, 448. Mr. Green then got up and told the

Defendant he was going to the bedroom to get his gun. RP 448. Mr. Green then retrieved a firearm from the bedroom and came back into the living room where he cocked the gun, held it up to his own head, leaned over the chair where the Defendant was sitting, and told her to go ahead and shoot him. RP 449-50. The Defendant said she then reached up, took the gun and shot him. RP 449. The Defendant further said she didn't know why this was such a big deal, since Mr. Green had told her to shoot him and she just did what he had asked her to do. RP 449-50.

At trial the Defendant did not raise a claim of self defense. Rather, the Defendant's claim was that the victim killed himself. The defense also indicated that it intended to call a defense expert, Dr. Maiuro, who would testify that the Defendant suffered from Battered Woman's Syndrome. CP 385. In a written report Dr. Maiuro concluded that the Defendant's initial reports to her family that she had shot her husband were not correct and the her later assertion that she did not shoot her husband was credible. Dr. Maiuro also stated that "The fact that she said, or may have initially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dr. Maiuro's report explains that it was prepared in order to address three questions:

<sup>1.</sup> What is Darlene Green's psychological and behavioral emotional profile in reference to the present allegations of having shot her husband?

<sup>2.</sup> Does Darlene Green's prior history of arrest for domestic violence and associated alcohol abuse suggest that she was a domestic violence perpetrator and had elevated risk to commit the present act of violence against her husband? And,

<sup>3.</sup> Given her prior alleged comments that she shot or may have shot her husband, is Darlene's present claim that she did not shoot her husband still credible?

thought, she was responsible for the shooting, does not necessarily mean that her current, more considered, assertion that she did not is not credible." CP 84.

The State argued below that Dr. Maiuro's testimony was inadmissible. The State acknowledged that Battered Woman's Syndrome evidence may be admissible in self-defense cases to explain the subjective understanding of a spouse who uses lethal force to respond to an imminent threat of serious physical harm. CP 68, 359. The State, however, was unaware of any authority for a claim that Battered Woman's Syndrome can cause a person to fabricate a threat or event that did not occur. CP 68. The State also argued that the issue of a witness's credibility is uniquely within the purview of the jury and that it would be improper for Dr. Maiuro to offer an opinion on the Defendant's credibility. CP 69-70.

At the January 30, 2012 hearing on this issue, the trial court started the discussion with the following exchange with defense counsel:

The Court: It's clear from both sets of briefs that nobody contemplates a *Frye* hearing; is that on purpose or otherwise? I see nothing from any cases that I and my clerk have researched that addresses the proposed context of your expert's opinion. Is there something we've missed?

[Defense Counsel]: No your honor.

RP (1/30/2012) 13. Dr. Maiuro did not testify at the hearing, but Defense

counsel said that he would testify that he had diagnosed the Defendant as being a battered woman, and that this would explain why she had said that she had shot her husband. RP (1/30/2012) 14. The trial court explained that it had some question about the defense expert's claim, and asked, "So I guess I'm having – is this new? Is it novel? Is it accepted? Is this a *Frye* issue?" RP (1/30/2012) 14. The trial court later raised this same point and asked, "But is there anywhere in the literature that indicates that they take on responsibility for something they've not done? I've not seen that." RP (1/30/2012) 22. Defense counsel then responded,

Off the top of my head, I can't say that there is at this point in time. It is novel, Your Honor. If the court wants to have a *Frye* hearing on it, I'm sure that can be arranged. I will check further with my doctor to see if he's got any more literature on it.

RP (1/30/2012) 22-23. Defense counsel, however, never provided any additional information or literature to the court, and defense counsel never made a specific request for a *Frye* hearing.

The State also argued that Dr. Maiuro's proposed testimony was directed at the credibility of the victim, which was solely within the purview of the jury. CP 69. Although Dr. Maiuro's report repeatedly mentioned his opinions regarding the Defendant's credibility,<sup>4</sup> defense counsel claimed that Dr. Maiuro would not be called to testify on the

Defendant's credibility. RP (1/30/2012) 13, 22-23. The trial court questioned defense counsel's claim, however, in the following exchange:

The Court: I understand that you're not going to be calling your expert to testify as to credibility. But the testimony clearly raises the inference bearing on credibility as it seeks to explain why she would offer two different statements regarding her culpability at different times. So how could that not go to credibility and saying, given this condition, her later statements are more probative and more accurate than the former?

Defense Counsel: But that is not the intention, Your Honor.

The intention is to explain –

The Court: That's where you hope to go. Let's be honest.

RP (1/30/2012) 24.

The trial court later issued a written memorandum opinion that first cited ER 702 and explained that the issue of admissibility required the court to examine whether the expert's opinion was "based upon an explanatory theory generally accepted in the scientific community" and whether the expert's testimony "would be helpful to the trier of fact." CP 100.<sup>5</sup> The trial court noted it was aware of no appellate cases applying the theory proposed by Dr. Maiuro. CP 101. The court thus found (consistent with the Defendant's own concession) that the defense expert's theory was "novel." CP 101. The court further noted that "neither party has requested a *Frye* hearing and the "Defendant has not offered or referenced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See CP 81, 83-85.

any authority or other evidence that Dr. Maiuro's theory is generally accepted in the scientific community." CP 101. The trial court further noted that expert testimony is often disallowed when a matter is within the common understanding of a juror, and that particular scrutiny is given to expert testimony bearing on another witness's credibility. CP 102 (citing State v. King, 131 Wn.App. 789, 797, 130 P.3d 376 (2006)). The trial court then concluded that Dr. Maiuro's testimony was unlikely to be helpful to the trier of fact and would invade the jury's duty to determine witness credibility, and thus was inadmissible. CP 102-03.

On appeal, a two judge majority of the Court of Appeals found that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to admit the testimony from the defense expert. Specifically, the majority found that a *Frye* hearing was not required for the claim that PTSD would explain why a person would confess to a crime she did not commit. App. A at page 12-16. The majority did find, however, that the trial court correctly found that Dr. Maiuro's report included inadmissible opinions regarding the Defendant's credibility. App. A. at page 11. The majority went on to note that defense counsel had stated that he intended to have the expert testify that the Defendant suffered from battered women's syndrome and that people who have been battered for a long time tend to take responsibility for things

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial cited State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 262, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004).

they did not do, and the majority opinion found that this testimony would not have expressed an opinion about the Defendant's credibility. App. A at page 13.

In a dissenting opinion, however, Judge Hunt disagreed and explained that the Defendant had failed to show an abuse of discretion. Specifically, Judge Hunt noted as follows:

The law is also well settled that determinations of credibility are solely for the jury. State v. Thomas, 150 Wash.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing State v. Camarillo, 115 Wash.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)). Thus, in exercising its broad discretion to admit and to exclude relevant evidence, it is a paramount duty of the trial court to protect the jury from invasion into its exclusive realm of deciding witness credibility, especially when assessing whether expert testimony can assist the jury in making determinations in areas beyond the common understanding of a layperson. Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wash.2d 593, 600, 260 P.3d 857 (2011). Majority at 12. Here, the record shows that, in the process of explaining why Green may have offered conflicting statements at different times about whether she had shot her husband. Dr. Maiuro's testimony would inevitably have reflected on Green's credibility. Given the applicable standards of review, how can we say that the trial court "manifestly abused its discretion" when the trial court excluded Dr. Maiuro's testimony based on its concerns that such testimony would bear on Green's credibility, a factual issue solely for the jury?

I would uphold the trial court's carefully reasoned exclusion of Dr. Maiuro's testimony based on its determination that the danger of undue prejudice to the jury's credibility determinations substantially outweighed the relevance of such testimony.

App. A at page 22-23.

### V. ARGUMENT

- A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTED WITH PREVIOUS DECISIONS BY THE COURT.
  - 1. Several of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) support acceptance of review.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with previous decisions from this Court regarding the applicability of *Frye* and a trial court's discretion to exclude testimony that goes to the veracity or credibility of a witness or that that includes an actual diagnosis of a witness with a particular disorder.

2. The Court of Appeals decision that the expert's proposed testimony satisfied *Frye* is contrary to this Court's previous holding that the *Frye* test is applicable when an expert proposes a "novel" extension of the Battered Woman's Syndrome.

Washington courts have previously addressed "battered woman's syndrome" and explained that the syndrome is a collection of behavioral and psychological characteristics exhibited by victims of prolonged abuse inflicted by their partners. See, e.g., State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 358, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). Washington courts have admitted expert testimony on the battered person syndrome to explain a defendant's perception of threat and the reasonableness of the force employed in self-defense against that threat, and also to explain a delay in reporting abuse and a failure to leave the abusive environment. State v. Hanson, 58 Wn.App. 504, 508 n. 4, 793 P.2d 1001, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1033 (1990); see also State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (expert testimony that defendant was battered was admissible to explain that defendant was "hypervigilant" and can assist the jury in determining whether the defendant's belief that he was in imminent danger of serious bodily harm was reasonable under the circumstances); State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312 (1984) (testimony concerning battered woman syndrome admissible to explain defendant's perception of the threat and the reasonableness of the force employed in self-defense); State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d 263, 278-79, 751

P.2d 1165 (1988). Nevertheless, the syndrome is not an open-ended excuse for the allegedly battered spouse to use deadly force, nor is the syndrome a "defense in and of itself." *State v. Walker*, 40 Wn.App. 658, 664-665, 700 P.2d 1168 (1985).

Expert testimony regarding the fact that a person has been battered has also previously been admitted to explain the seemingly inconsistent behavior of the victim. *See, Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d at 280 (admitting expert testimony as to battered women syndrome to help the jury understand why the victim failed to leave the relationship or report the acts of violence). In addition, evidence of battered women's syndrome or PTSD has been admitted to show that a defendant was suffering a flashback at the time of a homicide and was therefore unable to form the intent required for a charge of second degree murder. *State v. Bottrell*, 103 Wn. App. 706, 178, 14 P.3d 164 (2000).

The State is aware of no case, however, where expert testimony has been admitted to show that a battered victim or defendant would falsely admit to killing their abuser or otherwise make a false confession. On account of this, the trial court below specifically asked defense counsel if there was any literature that supported a claim that Battered Woman's Syndrome had been found to cause a person to falsely confess for a crime they had not committed. RP (1/30/2012) 22-23. In response, defense

counsel stated that he was unaware of any such literature, and counsel specifically acknowledged that the defense theory was "novel." RP (1/30/2012) 22-23.6

Given this statement by defense counsel, the trial court was clearly placed in a difficult position.<sup>7</sup> While it is true that the Battered Women's Syndrome has been recognized, the specific application of that syndrome in a false confession context has not previously been addressed, as defense counsel acknowledged.

Furthermore, this Court has previous applied a *Frye* analysis to proposed expert testimony where the expert attempts to apply the battered women's syndrome in a new or novel context. Specifically, in *State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 869 P.2d 43 (1994) the defendant was charged with delivery and possession of cocaine, but she claimed that a police informant coerced her into the crime with verbal threats. She also contended that her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition, the Defendant's proposed testimony and theory actually directly contradicts the rationale behind the admission of Battered Woman's Syndrome evidence. As noted above, evidence of Battered Woman's Syndrome has been admitted to explain why a battered victim might reasonably perceive a legitimate threat to his or her safety in a situation where a normal person might not perceive such a threat. The Defendant's argument in the present case, however, would turn this logic on its head as the Defendant's theory was that the Defendant's perceptions were inherently unreasonable due to her Battered Woman's Syndrome. This claim clearly runs contrary to the accepted understanding of the role of Battered Woman's Syndrome and, if accepted, would bring into doubt the rationale behind admitting evidence of the syndrome to explain why a victim's perceptions of an imminent threat were, in fact, reasonable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Whether a scientific method or technique is generally accepted requires "more than the bare assertion by one expert witness that the technique is reliable." State v. Ahlfinger, 50 Wn.App. 466, 469, 749 P.2d 190, review denied, 110 Wn.2d 1035 (1988). The trial court's apparent frustrations, therefore, were clearly justified.

history as a battered woman in other relationships was relevant to this defense, and the defendant offered expert testimony on battered women's syndrome to support her duress defense, but the trial court excluded the testimony. *Riker*, 123 Wn.2d at 354. Specifically, the expert would have testified that the defendant had a history of abusive relationships which could not be separated from her brief relationship with the informant. *Id* at 357. On appeal this Court explained that in examining the *Frye* question, a court is to look to see: (1) whether the underlying theory is generally accepted in the scientific community and (2) whether there are techniques, experiments, or studies utilizing that theory which are capable of producing reliable results and are generally accepted in the scientific community. *Riker*, 123 Wn.2d at 359, *citing State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 888-89, 846 P.2d 502 (1993). The Court then stated,

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