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

or sleeves. RP 287-88; CP 157-60. Microscopic 

examination showed no blood spatter on the torso or 

cuffs, indicating her cuffs were not close to the 

gun when it fired. RP 584-89; CP 155-62. 

Dr. Roland Maiuro diagnosed Mrs. Green with 

battered woman syndrome/PTSD. 5 Dr. Maiuro would 

have testified that PTSD, battering and its effects 

contribute to (1) a person experiencing a 

dissociative state, and (2) self-blame that becomes 

a mindset within the context of the battering 

relationship. He concluded Mrs. Green's history of 

abuse led to a mindset of accepting blame and guilt 

when she was not in fact blameworthy or guilty; and 

her evaluation was consistent with experiencing a 

dissociative state when her husband shot himself 

5 His complete report, CP 77-85, is 
attached as Appendix B to this Answer. 
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and fell dead onto her lap. She could observe the 

situation as if from outside of her own body, 

contributing to her tendency to blame herself for 

anything bad that her husband did to her. 

The trial court excluded this expert 

testimony. The Court of Appeals reversed. 

B. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION PROPERLY 
APPLIES THIS COURT 1 S PRECEDENTS. 

The Court of Appeals applied this Court, s 

recent controlling opinion on the admissibility of 

expert testimony under ER 702 and Frye. 6 Anderson 

v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 600, 

260 P.3d 857 (2011); Slip Op. at 11-16. 

The State offers no argument why this 

authority does not control this case. Petition for 

Review at 9 (citing Anderson only as quoted within 

the dissenting opinion, which also relied on 

Anderson; not otherwise citing or distinguishing 

it). Yet Anderson is at the core of the State's 

disagreement with the court of Appeals opinion. 

In Anderson, this Court held that Frye only 

applies to novel scientific theories, not to 

6 Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 
293 F. 1013 (1923) . 
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deductions derived from or based on generally 

accepted scientific theory; and not to a novel 

legal application based on generally accepted 

science. 

In Anderson, a plaintiff offered expert 

testimony that in utero exposure to toxic solvents 

could have caused the plaintiff's birth defects. 

The defense moved to exclude the expert, claiming 

the scientific community had not generally accepted 

the causal link between the specific solvent to 

which the plaintiff was exposed and the specific 

birth defect he suffered. 

This Court reversed. 

The Frye test is implicated only 
where the opinion offered is based upon 
novel science. It applies where 
either the theory and technique or the 
method of arriving at the data relied 
upon is so novel that it is not generally 
accepted by the relevant scientific 
community. There is nothing novel about 
the theory that organic solvent exposure 
may cause brain damage and encephalo
pathy. Nor does it appear that 
there is anything novel about the methods 
of the study about which Dr. Khattak 
wrote. Frye does not require that 
the specific conclusions drawn from the 
scientific data upon which Dr. Xhattak 
relied be generally accepted in the 
scientific community. Frye does not 
require every deduction drawn from 
generally accepted theories to be 
generally accepted. Because Dr. 
Khattak' s testimony was not based upon 
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novel science, Frye was not implicated in 
this case. 

Anderson, 172 Wn.2d at 611 (emphasis added). 

Thus this Court did not find a Frye analysis 

necessary in State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn. 2d 263, 751 

P.2d 1165 (1988), although the battered person 

syndrome was being used not for self-defense as 

previously approved in State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 

591, 682 P.2d 312 {1984), but to support the 

credibility of the State's witness. 

This court has already determined in 
Allery that Klingbeil's methodology in 
the diagnosis and treatment of battered 
women has received general acceptance in 
the community of mental health experts. 
Researchers studying battered women agree 
that they share the personality traits 
characteristic of women suffering from 
post-traumatic stress disorder described 
by Klingbeil in her testimony. 

Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d at 271 (citations to literature 

omitted) . 

The Court of Appeals here properly applied 

Anderson. There is nothing novel about 

psychological evaluations. There is nothing novel 

about diagnoses of post-traumatic stress disorder 

and battered person syndrome. 

Contrary to the state's argument and the trial 

court's finding that PTSD does not include 
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dissociative states, the Court of Appeals relied on 

case precedent and supporting literature to find it 

does. State v. Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. 706, 14 P.3d 

164 (2000); Slip Op. at 14-15. The State offers no 

response to that authority. 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION 
CONSISTENT WITH OTHER CASES. 

IS 

The State acknowledges testimony such as Dr. 

Maiuro's is admissible in a variety of legal 

applications. 

It apparently approves of the application in 

Ciskie, supra, 110 Wn.2d at 278-79, where the State 

presented the evidence in a rape prosecution to 

explain why the jury could believe the complaining 

witness's testimony when her behavior seemed 

inconsistent with multiple violent rapes. 

The State does not cite State v. Williamson, 

100 wn. App. 248, 252, 996 P.2d 1097 (2000). The 

complaining witness recanted her accusations of 

kidnapping and attempted murder at trial. The 

State presented expert testimony of battered woman 

syndrome and "the propensity for battered women to 

recant. 11 Although the defendant challenged the 

admission of this testimony on appeal, the Court of 

Appeals affirmed. Id. at 250. 
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The State accepts battered person syndrome 

evidence in cases of self-defense. State v. Janes, 

121 Wn.2d 220, 236, 850 P.2d 495 (1993); State v. 

Allery, supra, 101 Wn.2d at 597. 

And it cites Bottrell, supra, in which the 

expert testimony supported a theory of diminished 

capacity. 

The State then claims it is aware of no case 

11 Where expert testimony has been admitted to show 

that a battered victim or defendant would falsely 

admit to killing their abuser or otherwise make a 

false confession." Petition for Review at 12 . 

This claim disregards the authority cited in the 

Brief of Appellant at 33-43; and specifically State 

v. Beagle, 813 P. 2d 699 (Alaska, 1991), a case 

virtually indistinguishable from Mrs. Green's. 

The state claims this Court should review this 

case, not because scientific evidence supported the 

trial court's decision-- indeed, the State did not 

offer a contradicting expert or cite any literature 

rejecting his analysis and opinion7 
-- but because 

trial counsel did not provide more scientific 

7 See Petition at 13 n.6, citing no 
authority or literature. 
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literature to the trial judge to support the 

psychological evidence. Petition for Review at 12-

13. Yet this Court conducts its 11 own survey of 

available literature and other casesn to examine 

acceptance of scientific theories. State v. Riker, 

12 3 wn . 2 d 3 51, 3 6 2 , 8 6 9 P . 2 d 4 3 ( 19 9 4 ) . 

The Court of Appeals properly did not base its 

opinion on trial counsel's unfamiliarity with the 

scientific literature -- especially when the case 

law itself relies on the literature. Slip Op. at 

14-15 (citing Bottrell and supporting literature). 

See also App. Br. at 48-50 & nn. 17, 18. 

The State claims the court of Appeals opinion 

conflicts with State v. Riker, supra. Petition at 

13-16. In Riker, the defendant presented a defense 

of duress to charges of selling cocaine. She 

claimed her past history of abusive relationships 

with other people made her reasonably fear Mr. 

Burke, to whom she sold cocaine over a one-month 

period, would cause 11 immediate death or immediate 

grievous bodily injury 11 8 to her or her sister. 

The trial court excluded expert testimony that 

Ms. Riker was a battered woman, although it 

8 As duress requires, RCW 9A.l6.060(1). 
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permitted her to testify to her own history of 

abuse. But Ms. Riker had no intimate relationship 

with the man she testified she feared. The court 

excluded the expert because the expert 

admitted that the use of the battered 
woman syndrome in a case where there was 
not an intimate relationship between the 
batterer and the victim was novel, and 
that she could not cite any studies 
applicable to this situation. 

Riker, 123 Wn.2d at 357. 

[T]here was an inadequate foundation for 
establishing the probative value of the 
battered person syndrome outside of a 
battering relationship. Riker and Burke 
were passing acquaintances whose limited 
contacts occurred mainly by telephone and 
over only a brief period of time. 

Riker, 123 Wn.2d at 365. Thus what was 11 novel 11 was 

applying this scientific assessment to a factual 

scenario that did not fit the science. 

The admissibility of expert testimony on 
the battered person syndrome to explain 
the defendant's actions outside of a 
battering relationship is a matter of 
first impression in this jurisdiction. 
Given the current state of scientific 
acceptance, we hold that the testimony 
was properly rejected. 

Riker, 123 wn.2d at 159. The case did not reject 

application of the science to the legal theory of 

duress. The Court limited its holding to 11 the 

facts of this case. 11 Id. at 366. 
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Unlike the one-month mostly telephone 

relationship in Riker, this case involved 57 years 

of marriage. The defense laid the factual 

foundation for the science. There was nothing 

"novel" about this scientific theory. 

We have previously admitted expert 
testimony on the battered person syndrome 
to show how severe abuse within the 
context of a battering relationship 
affects the battered person's perceptions 
and reactions in ways not immediately 
understandable to the average juror. 

Riker, 123 Wn.2d at 359. The Court of Appeals 

opinion is entirely consistent with this rule. 

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION TURNS ON THE 
STANDARD OF REVIEW THE STATE SUPPORTS . 
IT DID NOT ADDRESS THE CONSTITUTIONAL 
ISSUES. 

The Court of Appeals applied the abuse of 

discretion standard of review, for which the State 

argued. Brief of Respondent at 30. Thus it did 

not reach the appellant's constitutional issue of 

being denied the right to present a defense and its 

more rigorous de novo standard of review. State v. 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); 

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 u.s. 683, 690, 106 S. ct. 

2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986); United states 

Constitution, amends. 6, 14; Constitution, art. 1, 
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§§ 3, 22. See Brief of Appellant at 1 (AOE 2), 25-

28; Reply Brief at 12-13. 

A court abuses its discretion when 
an "order is manifestly unreasonable or 
based on untenable grounds." A 
discretionary decision "is based 'on 
untenable grounds' or made 'for untenable 
reasons' if it rests on facts unsupported 
in the record or was reached by applying 
the wrong legal standard." Indeed, 
a court "would necessarily abuse its 
discretion if it based its ruling on an 
erroneous view of the law. 11 

State v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 

342 (2008), quoting Wash. State Physicians Ins. 

Exch. & Ass 1n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 

858 P. 2d 1054 (1993), and State v. Rohrich, 149 

Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). 

The court of Appeals held the trial court here 

abused its discretion on both bases by excluding 

the defendant's expert testimony. 

a. The Expert Would Not Testify to 
Whether Mrs. Green's Statements Were 
credible. 

The trial court's conclusion that the expert 

would testify to whether Mrs. Green's statements 

were credible was not supported by the record. 

Defense counsel submitted Dr. Maiuro's report as an 

offer of proof. But, as the majority clearly 

states, he modified that offer by stating multiple 
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times that he would not ask Dr. Maiuro to testify 

whether either version of Mrs. Green's statements 

was credible. Slip Op. at 13 & n.2; CP 385-86. 

b. Defense Counsel Offered a Frye 
Hearing. 

Similarly, the trial court's statement that 

11 neither party has requested a Frye hearing" was 

contrary to the record. Defense counsel offered a 

Frye hearing if the court thought it was needed.' 

c . The Expert Testimony Would Be 
Helpful to the Jury. 

The trial court concluded the expert testimony 

would not be helpful to the jury. This conclusion 

was based in part on the unsupported conclusion 

that Dr. Maiuro would testify whether Mrs. Green's 

statements were credible. But the proffer was to 

why she might perceive and say she had shot her 

husband when she had not done so. 

On this record, the jurors repeatedly said 

during voir dire that they believed a confession 

was the most reliable kind of evidence possible. 

RP 135, 207-09; App. Br. at 19. Dr. Maiuro would 

testify to the psychological reasons why a person 

9 RP (1/30/2012) 22-23; quoted in Brief of 
Respondent at 11. 
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might inaccurately perceive and confess to a crime 

they did not commit -- expertise that the jury 

demonstrated was not within their common 

experience . 10 Thus the court's conclusion was 

unsupported on this record. 

This conclusion also applied the wrong legal 

standard. Courts consistently have held 

psychological evidence, in particular battered 

person syndrome, is beyond the common knowledge of 

jurors. Slip Op. at 12, citing Janes, 121 Wn.2d at 

236; Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d at 273-74; Allery, 101 Wn.2d 

at 597; and Bottrell, supra, 103 Wn. App. at 717. 

The State offers no authority that holds 

otherwise. 

4. BEARING ON CREDIBILITY IS NOT THE SAME AS 
INVADING THE JURY'S FACT-FINDING 
PROVINCE. 

a. The constitution Guarantees the 
Right to Present Evidence Bearing on 
Credibility, Especially to Challenge 
a Confession. 

A criminal defendant is entitled to present to 

a jury "competent, reliable evidence bearing on the 

10 See State v·. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 
460, 284 P.3d 793 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 
1015 (2013) (jurors' acknowledgment during voir 
dire that they were familiar with reputation of 
Bandidos or motorcycle clubs or gangs indicated 
prejudice of admitting such evidence) . 
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credibility of [her] confession, 11 particularly when 

such evidence is central to her claim of innocence. 

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 u.s. at 690. A defendant is 

denied her right to present a defense if prohibited 

from presenting evidence about the "physical and 

psychological environment" in which the confession 

was obtained. Id., 476 u.s. at 689. 

Confessions, even those that have 
been found to be voluntary, are not 
conclusive of guilt. And, as with any 
other part of the prosecutor's case, a 
confession may be shown to be 
"unworthy of belief." Indeed, stripped 
of the power to describe to the jury the 
circumstances that prompted [her] 
confession, the defendant is effectively 
disabled from answering the one question 
every rational juror needs answered: If 
the defendant is innocent, why did [s)he 
previously admit [her] guilt? 

Id. See App. Br. at 33-48 and authorities cited. 

Trial counsel below acknowledged that Dr. 

Maiuro would not testify to his personal or expert 

opinion as to which of Mrs. Green's statements was 

credible. However, this Court recommends an expert 

witness may state a factual scenario 11 is consistent 

with" a conclusion according to that witness's 

expertise and experience without invading the 

jury's province. State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 

577, 591-93, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (officers 
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erroneously permitted to testify to their opinion 

that the defendants bought pseudoephedrine 

intending to produce methamphetamine; Court 

discusses acceptable methods of presenting similar 

testimony without invading the jury's province). 

Testimony in the form of an opinion 
or inferences otherwise admissible is not 
objectionable because it embraces an 
ultimate issue to be decided by the trier 
of fact. 

ER 704. 

However, this rule has a limitation in a 
criminal trial when expert testimony is 
introduced in a trial where the batterer 
is the defendant. Under no circumstances 
may an expert opine that, in the opinion 
of the expert, the defendant committed 
the act for which he or she is charged. 

Domestic Violence Manual for Judges at 6-35 (Wash. 

AOC 2006) . Such evidence carries a greater risk of 

unfair prejudice under ER 403 when used by the 

State against a defendant as to an ultimate issue 

of fact, than when used by the defense. 

There is nothing inappropriate or 

impermissible for an expert to offer testimony the 

jury can use to determine for itself what to 

believe. Indeed, the State has offered expert 

testimony of battered person syndrome precisely for 
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this purpose. See Ciskie, supra; Williamson, 

supra. 

b. The Court of Appeals Opinion Does 
Not Conflict with State v. Ciskie. 

The State claims this Court was concerned in 

Ciskie that the

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